Case: 09-15684 12/09/2009 Page: 1 of 97 ID: 7158242 DktEntry: 23

IN THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE NINTH CIRCUIT

No. 09-15684

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION, Plaintiff—Appellee,

v.

NETWORK SERVICES DEPOT, INC.; NETWORK MARKETING LLC; NETWORK SERVICES DISTRIBUTION, INC.; CHARLES V. CASTRO; ELIZABETH L. CASTRO; GREGORY HIGH; AND SUNBELT MARKETING, INC., Defendants—Appellants,

and

PHYLLIS WATSON, Relief Defendant.

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF—APPELLEE FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION (On appeal from the United States District Court for the District of Nevada (No. 2:05-CV-00440-LDG-LRL))

WILLARD K. TOM General Counsel

JOHN F. DALY

MARK S. HEGEDUS

Deputy General Counsel for Litigation

OF COUNSEL:

Lisa D. Rosenthal Kerry O'Brien Federal Trade Commission 901 Market Street, Suite 570 San Francisco, CA 94103 Attorney
Federal Trade Commission
600 Pennsylvania Avenue NW
Washington, DC 20580

(202) 326-2115 mhegedus@ftc.gov

December 9, 2009

Case: 09-15684 12/09/2009 Page: 2 of 97 ID: 7158242 DktEntry: 23

TABLE OF CONTENTS

			rage		
TABLE O	F AUT	HORI	ITIES i	V	
JURISDIC	CTION			1	
STATEM	ENT O	F ISS	SUES	1	
STATUTE	ES AN	D REG	GULATIONS	2	
STATEM	ENT O	F THE	E CASE	2	
A.		lature of the Case, the Course of Proceedings, and the Disposition Below			
B. Facts and Proceedings Below			Proceedings Below4		
	1.	The	Defendants and Their Deceptive Conduct 4		
	2.		stro's and High's Partication in and Knowledge of endants' Deceptive Conduct		
		a.	Castro	12	
		b.	High 1	5	
	3.	Defe	endants' Retention of Counsel		
	4.	Pro	ceedings Below20)	
		a.	Liability Under the FTC Act and Franchise Rule 20		
		b.	Defense Counsel's Return of Consumer Funds 23		
SUMMAF	RY OF	THE /	ARGUMENT 2	4	

ARG	UIVIEI	NI			
	I.	THE	RE W	ERE N	COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT NO GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT
		A.	Stan	dard o	of Review
		B.	High the C	's Pers	Defendants Do Not Challenge Castro's and sonal Liability for Franchise Rule Violations, May Affirm Without Reaching Their Liability ants' Section 5(a) Violations
		C.	Defe That	ndants They	et Court Correctly Concluded That the Individual s Failed to Controvehe Commission's Showing Had Knowledge of the Corporate Defendants'
			1.		idual Defendants' Knowledge of Deceptive duct Creates Personal Liability
			2.	Defe	District Court Correctly Concluded That Individual ndants Had Knowledge of NSD's Deceptive duct
				a.	Castro and High had direct knowledge 36
				b.	Castro and High were reckless
				C.	Castro and High were deeply involved 39
			3.	Kiosł	ndants' Claims of Ignorance of Uninstalled ks and Other Problems Lacked Support and Not Create Genuinely Disputed Facts 40

II.	THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN IMPOSING A CONSTRUCTIVE TRUST AND ORDERING BENICE TO RETURN CONSUMER FUNDS			
	A.	Abus	e of Discretion Is the Proper Review Standard 47	
	B.	The District Court Correctly Impressed a Constructive Trust		
		1.	The FTC Proved That Defendants Paid Benice With Tainted Funds	
		2.	Funds from All Corporate Defendants Were Properly Impressed with the Constructive Trust 53	
	C.	The District Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion in Rejecting Benice's Claim to Consumer Funds 56		
		1.	Benice Had a Duty of Inquiry, Which He Failed to Discharge	
		2.	Defendants Fail to Prove that Benice Is Otherwise Entitled to Retain \$375,000	
CONCLUS	SION .			
STATUTO	RY AE	DDEN	DUM	
CERTIFICA	ATE C	F CO	MPLIANCE	
CERTIFICA	ATE C	F SE	RVICE	

Case: 09-15684 12/09/2009 Page: 5 of 97 ID: 7158242 DktEntry: 23

Entertainment Research Group, Inc. v. Genesis Creative Group, Inc. 122 F.3d 1211 (9ttir. 1997)
FTC v. Affordable Media, LLC 179 F.3d 1228 (9th Cirl.999)
FTC v. American Standard Credit Sys., Jnc. 874 F. Supp. 108(C.D. Cal. 1994)
FTC v. Amy Travel Servs., Inc. 875 F.2d 564 (7th Cirl 989)
FTC v. Assail, Inç. 410 F.3d 256 (5th Cig2005)
FTC v. Crittenden 823 F. Supp. 699 (C.D. Cal. 199a)f('d, 19 F.3d 26 (9th Cir. 1994)
FTC v. Gill, 265 F.3d 944 (9tl©ir. 2001)
FTC v. Jordan Ashley, Inc. 1994-1 Trade Cas. (CCH)70,570 (S.D. Fd. 1994)
FTC v. Minuteman Press 53 F. Supp. 2 2 48 (E.D.N.Y.1998)
FTC v. NCH, Inc. 1995-2 Trade Cas. (CCH) ¶ 71,114 (D. Nev. 1995), aff'd, 106 F.3d 407 (9tlcir. 1997)
FTC v. Pioneer Enterprises, Inc 1992-2 Trade Cas. (CCI)70,043 (D.Ne. 1992)

782 F. Supp. 144(D. Nev.1991)	33
FTC v. Stefanchijk 599 F.3d 924 (9tl©ir. 2009)	47
FTC v. Tashman 318 F.3d 1273 (11t6ir. 2003)	60
FTC v. Think Achievement Corp. 144 F. Supp. 2d 99(N.D. Ind. 2000)	54
FTC v. Wolf 1997-1 Trade Cas. (CCH)7¶,713 (S.D. Fal. 1996)	33
Greenwood v. FAA, 28 F.3d 971 (9tl©ir. 1994)	29
Grosz-Salomon v. Paul Revere Life Ins.,Co. 237 F.3d 1154 (9ttir. 2001)	4.7
Harris Trust & Sav. Bank v. Salomon Smith Barney, Inc. 530 U.S. 2382(000)	56,.63
In re Heritage Mall Associates 184 B.R. 128 (BankrOre. 1995)	63
Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Corp. 475 U.S. 5741(986)	. 28, .41
McGraw v. Connelly 838 F.2d 844 (6th © i 1988)	58,.62
Nat'l Wildlife Fed. v. Nat'l Marine Fisheries Serv. 524 F.3d 917 (9tlCir. 2008)	47
Olsen v. Idaho State Bd. of Medicine 363 F.3d 916 (9tlCir. 2004)	28

Principe v. Ukropina (In re Pac. Enters. Sec. Litig.) 47 F.3d 373 (9tlCir. 1995)29	
Qwest Comm'ns, Inc. v. Berkeley 433 F.3d 1253 (9tbir. 2006)	
SEC v. Elmas Trading Cor,p. 683 F. Supp. 743D(. Nev. 1987)	3
SEC v. Murphy 626 F.2d 633 (9tl©ir. 1980)	
Sunshine Art Studios, Inc. v. F,TC 481 F.2d 1171 (1st © i1973)53,.55	
Tex. Comptroller of Pub. Accounts v. Megafoods Stores, Inc. (In re Megafoods Stores, Inc.)63 F.3d 1063 (9t6ir. 1998) 51, 56	
Ting v. AT&T, 319 F.3d 1126 (9ttcir. 2003)	
Torres v. Eastlich (In re North Am. Coin & Currency, Ltd.) 767 F.2d 1573 (9th ©i1985)	
United States v. Daniel (In re R & T Roofing Structures & Commercial Framing, Inc,)887 F.2d 981 (9tlcir. 1989) 51	
United States v. Pegg 782 F.2d 1498 (9t©ir. 1986)	
STATE CASES	
Calistoga Civic Center v. City of Calistoga 191 Cal. Rptr. 571 (CaCt. App.1983)	
David Welch Co. v. Erksine & Tulley 250 Cal. Rptr. 339 (Catt. App.1988)	

GHK Associates v. Mayer Group, Inc. 274 Cal. Rptr. 168 (CaCt. App.1990)
Locken v. Locken 98 Nev. 369, 65 P .2d 803 (982)
Mitchell v. Dunn 211 Cal. 129, 294 P386 (1930)
FEDERAL STATUTES
Federal Trade Commission Act
15 U.S.C. § 45
15 U.S.C. § 45a()
15 U.S.C. § 53b()
15 U.S.C.§ 57b 1
15 U.S.C. §57b(b)
Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act
18 U.S.C. § 1963)((6)(B)
28 U.S.C.§ 1291
28 U.S.C.§ 1331 1
28 U.S.C. §1337(a)
28 U.S.C § 1345

Case: 09-15684 12/09/2009 Page: 10 of 97 ID: 7158242 DktEntry: 23

RULES AND REGULATIONS

16 C.F.R. Par436 (2005)	2, 20
16 C.F.R. § 436. a () (2005)	30, 31
16 C.F.R. § 436. b () (2005)	30, 31
16 C.F.R. § 436.t) (2005)	30, 31
16 C.F.R. § 436. t) (2005)	30, 31
Fed. R. App. P4(a)(1)(B)	1
Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e)	4′
MISCELLANEOUS	
RESTATEMENT (FIRST) OF RESTITUTION § 172 (1937)	7

JURISDICTION

The Federal Trade Commission ("FTC" Commission"), filed a complaint on March 31, 2005 in the United States District Court for the District of Nevada, seeking equitable relief under Sections (b) and 19 of the Federal Trade Commission Act (FTC Act), 15 U.S.C. § 53(b) and 57b. AE:1-10 Court district court had subject matter jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1337(a), 1345, and Sections 5(a) and 13(b) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 45(a), 53(b).

On March 5, 2009, the district court entered the final judgment against all Defendants. AE:1562-82. The noticeapppeal was timely filed on April 3, 2009, pursuant to Fed. R. App. P. 4(a)(1)(B)(E:1583-1611). This court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1291.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Whether the district court properly granted summary judgment for the FTC on the question of individual Defends' liability for equitable monetary

¹ "AE" refers to pages contained Defendants–Appellants' Excerpts of Record. Unless otherwise indicated, the number(s) following "AE" reflects pagination. In addition, "Br." referts the Defendants' opening brief. The number(s) following refers to the pagination in the electronic version posted on the Court's PACER site as of December 9, 2009. That pagination varies somewhat from the electronic version served on the FTC on October 14, 2009.

promotion of Internet kiosk business opportunities. Finding no genuine issues of material fact for trial, the district court granted summary judgment for the FTC on both the FTC Act and Franchise Ruberots and ordered permanent injunctive relief. The district court also conclude that the FTC had shown that individual Defendants Castro and High had the reitheriknowledge to hold them personally liable for equitable mortery relief. AE:1280-8†.

The district court also determined that Defendants had paid Benice \$375,000 in attorney's fees with funds deriveroum Defendants' unlawful Internet kiosk sales, thus subjecting those funds two astructive trust, and ordered Benice to return \$238,300 in consumer funds to the FTC. The district court rejected Defendants' claim that Benice was a purchaser for value and should be permitted to retain the funds, but ruled that it would an equitable matter, permit payment of Benice's reasonable attorney's fellowough March 24, 2006. AE:1516. (March 24, 2006 is the date of an order (SER:27½80) which the district court indicated that the funds may be subject to consumer redress.) The district court subsequently

³ The FTC sought only injunctive reliefith respect to defendant Elizabeth Castro.

⁴ "SER" refers to pages containiedPlaintiff—Appellee's Supplemental Excerpts of Record. Unless otherwinedicated, the number(s) following "SER" reflects pagination.

accepted a stipulation between Benice and the FTC setting the equitable fee recovery at \$136,700 while requiring himreturn \$238,300, assuming the district

120; SER:1346. The lead company, Netwoervices Depot, Inc. (NSD), began marketing and selling Internet kiosk truess opportunities to the public in 2001. AE:2-3; SER:742-44, 938, 1346.

A second company owned and run by togs Network Services LLC, d/b/a Network Services Marketing (NSMbegan marketing and selling public payphones in 1998. AE:3, 108; SER:823. It became involved in Internet kiosks, among other ways, by acting as a primary intermediary in the "Diamond Program," SER:715, 776, 778-79, 793-94, 1054-55, a program which enabled consumers who initially had invested in unprofitable apphone business opportunities to roll over their investment into essentially wbless NSD kiosk business opportunities. SER:372, 473-74, 776, 778-79, 1054-55. Similarly, a third Castro company, Sunbelt Marketing, Inc. (Sunbelt), **ich** had marketed and sold payphone business opportunities starting in 2000, AE:3, 108; SER:790-91, 824, helped market the Diamond Program to its customers as well. SER:793-94, 1055. A fourth Castro company, Network Servideistribution, Inc. (NSDist), began marketing and selling juke box business opposities to the public in 2000, AE:3, 108; SER:766-67, 824, and, on at least occession, was involved in a transaction in which a purchaser exchanged his jukebox business opportunities for kiosk business opportunities. SER:234-36, 462.

The four companies formed a single **eptisse**. They shared ownership and management, AE:3, 109, 117, 119; SER:936, office space, AE:2-3, 108, 117, 119; SER:286, telephone numbers, SER:76360, 826-27, 1301-02, email addresses, SER:232, 571-74, 826, and employees, SER:436-37, 439-40, 790, 824-26. They were operated jointly. SER:263-67. Direcolly indirectly, all were involved in the sale of Internet kiosks to consumers, described above. SER:233-36, 776-779. Finally, they routinely transferred funds among themselves, SER:703-06, and in numerous instances one company **phae**dexpenses of another, SER:704-05.

Defendant Charles Castro, presidend an owner of each corporate

Defendant, AE:3, 109, 117, 119; SER08, 1316-20, 1347, admitted that he
controlled these companies and was activity their business affairs, SER:936,
including participation in marketingnal selling of kiosk business opportunities.

His wife, Defendant Elizabeth Castro, waarsowner, officer, and director of NSD
and was also an owner of NSM, exercising control over its finances. SER:258,
262, 287, 1300, 1326, 1332-33.

Defendant Gregory High was the Vice Sident of Operations and general manager of NSD, SER:258, 276, 293, 437, 1267, as well as an employee of the other corporate defendants, SER:289, 4680, NSD specifically identified High as an NSD officer. SER:289. High was second in command at NSD, SER:1135,

1255-57, 1372, had authority to continueD, SER:262, and participated in marketing and selling kiosk busins opportunities. AE:602.

From 2001 through early 2004, NSD marketed and sold kiosk business opportunities. NSD offered to secureations and arrange for installation and activation of Internet kiosks. SER:1308. It promoted the business opportunities through independent sales agentsated nationwide, SER:1127, 1134, 1165, 1308, 1372, 1379-82, providing them and prospective customers with marketing and promotional materials, SER:490-5651, 664-87, 719-34, 753, as well as a disclosure document fashioned to look lare offering circular compliant with the Franchise Rule. SER:435, 442, 828.e Tofffering circular included statements such as: "We will sell you one or more publicly-accessible Internet access terminal businesses, fully installed at a specific location selected by you from among available Sites we have identified . . .atra Site which you own or lease or have secured yourself," SER:1351, and "@nyou notify us of the Site you have chosen . . ., we will . . . install an InternAccess terminal at that site." SER:1354-55. The circular also represented that kiosks would be operational, barring

In late 2001, NSD entered into a working arrangement with Mr. Ed Bevilacqua and his Internet kiosk companies, including Bikini Vending Corp., MyMart, Inc., Kiosk USA, and 360 Wirese Corp. (collectively referred to as "BVC"), whereby BVC agreed to purchastend locations for, install, and manage Internet kiosks, and NSD agreed to promote and sell the business opportunities. AE:5; SER:939. NSD publicly offered each business opportunity for \$4,400 to \$7,000. SER:1063, 1328. As part of itsnagement of kiosks, BVC said it would pay owners a fixed-minimum monthly pagent, based upon the price paid for the business opportunity, plus a percentageevenue above certain thresholds. SER:1309.

Under agreements between or among NSD, BVC, and purchasers, SER:1063-86, 1309, purchasers paid NSD for rights in specific Internet kiosks at designated locations, SER:827, 1061-86, NSD promised to install the kiosks. SER:307. Although NSD had delegated these of securing locations for and installing kiosks to BVC, NSD – not BVC – was contractually obligated to purchasers for these services. AE:5; SER:307, 939.

Case: 09-15684 12/09/2009 Page: 19 of 97 ID: 7158242 DktEntry: 23

substantial revenues in the form of thixed-minimum monthly payment (tied to the price paid for the business opportunith a percentage of revenue above a certain threshold, SER:283-84, 754-5509, amounting to an annual return of approximately 12 percent. SER:754-55. NSD's promotional material stated that kiosk purchasers could earn far more, ranging from \$1,000/month to possibly as much as \$1,000/day. SER:447-48, 535, 56820, 755. These representations were untrue and unsubstantiated. Actual enues amounted to no more than \$2,000/month for all installed kiosks combined. SER:959, 1007-53. Based upon the approximated installation of no more than 300 kiosks as of early 2004. SER:958, 1058, 1151, 1163, 1252, 1310, ksjowere "generating" less than \$7.00/per month in revenue, not the \$1,000/month (or more) promoted. In fact, consumers never received from BVC mtren the fixed-minimum monthly payments, SER:959, 1061-62, 1169-70, 1310, and received those only because of the infusion of money from new purchasers. SER:959-60, 1086, 1310. Castro knew that the representations were recklies to false, testifying that he expected a typical kiosk would generate only \$300400/month and that a kiosk generating \$50/day was atypical. SER:298-99.

Second, NSD falsely represented that it found or would find profitable locations for kiosks. AE:9; SER:940, 1349. It did not find profitable locations and

Case: 09-15684 12/09/2009 Page: 20 of 97 ID: 7158242 DktEntry: 23

Case: 09-15684 12/09/2009 Page: 21 of 97 ID: 7158242 DktEntry: 23

built between us.' That was his - and to some degree that was true.

Case: 09-15684 12/09/2009 Page: 22 of 97 ID: 7158242 DktEntry: 23

Case: 09-15684 12/09/2009 Page: 23 of 97 ID: 7158242 DktEntry: 23

particular locations. SER:827, 1093-94, 1145-46.

Castro was deeply involved in NSD'sternal operations. He trained NSD's sales agents, SER:743-44, supervised NSD employees, SER:293, and had editorial control over NSD's and its agents' advertisements and written presentations.

SER:322-23, 348-49, 401-05, 428-29, 471 November 2003, one purchaser informed Castro that Bevilacqua had tolich that only ten percent of the machines that he had purchased six months earlied been installed. SER:268-71, 395-400, 412-14, 421-22, 426-27, 715-18. Emailing Bevilacqua in December 2003, Castro described the problem of clients visiting sites where no kiosk existed as becoming a "huge" issue. SER:428-30. Furthermore, on December 5, 2003, Bevilacqua informed Castro that BVC was behind in installing kiosks. SER:320-21. Castro, however, took no steps to determine where the eventually installed these or any other kiosks. SER:324-29, 348, 359-60, 377, 407-09, 412-15.

Castro knew that BVC's obligations to tall kiosks jumped dramatically in 2003. SER:307-08, 314, 323. While BVC hadnstall more than 1,300 kiosks in

Case: 09-15684 12/09/2009 Page: 25 of 97 ID: 7158242 DktEntry: 23

kiosks. SER:340.

Castro also received complaints from eats about BVC's failure to provide purchasers with an accounting of the enues generated by their machines, SER:242-43, 247-52, 656-59, and its fail to eprovide agents with BVC's financial statements in a timely manner. SER:649-50. He also heard complaints about difficulties agents had communicating with BVC. SER:338-39.

Despite his awareness of problems with NSD's kiosk program, Castro continued aggressively marketing ædling kiosks using NSD's misleading offering circular and promotional matels. SER:340, 407, 680, 682. NSD made more than half of its gross sales for theire four years that it operated in the six months leading to March 2004. SER:323, 464, 699-700. NSD also took in more than \$5 million in the first few months of 2004 alone. SER:410-11.

b. High

High was actively involved in the marketing and selling of the kiosk business opportunities, as well. Heswira charge of, among other things, "compliance issues, legal questions, doentrquestions, offering circulars, and program descriptions" at NSD. SER33-34, 1374. He helped create NSD's marketing material for its agents activents. SER:144-52, 294, 450, 488-89, 564, 745. He disseminated these matterialong with sales and management

agreements. SER:153-76, 452-54. He atent approved advertising to agents and

kiosks in locations far from where purchasers and their agents resided. SER:470, 617. On at least one occasion, Hightens several locations and found that the kiosks had not been installed. RS:267-68, 616. While he confronted Bevilacqua, who conceded that the kiosker not installed and probably had not been reassigned to new locations, SER:616h did not take steps to discover if BVC eventually installed purchased kios SER:469, despite having the means to do so.

3. Defendants' Retention of Counsel

While Defendants ran the above-described Internet kiosk business opportunity scam, Castro regularly and frequently transferred funds that his companies took from consumers among numerous accounts held in the

counsel provided Spivack with a draft cdaipt so alleging. SER:9-24, 934. The next month, Castro signed a sworn finahdiaclosure statement stating that the Custodial Accounts held \$839,494, SE99, and that he had roughly \$25,000 in personal accounts. SER:898

On January 6, 2005, Phyllis Watson withdrew \$888,112 from the Custodial Accounts in the form of a cashier'sectk, which she then signed over to the Castros. AE:129; SER:915, 925. That same day, Castro and Spivack participated in a phone interview with FTC staff dug which FTC staff questioned Castro about the funds in the Custodial Accounts. SER:890-91, 919, 934. Castro asserted that the Custodial Accounts contained threads of a revocable trust set up years earlier. SER:891. He did not disclosetthe had depleted the accounts earlier that day,id., nor did he respond to follow-up requests for information about the formation and funding of the "trust." SER: 919, 922-24.

On January 14, 2005, while settlement on significant settlement with Benice and paid him \$375,000 for future legal services. AE:255-259 he agreement designated all fees as "earned on receipt," earmarking them also for some (not including contingency fees): \$85,000 for FTC proceedings; \$35,000 to pursue a private action against Bevilacqua; \$220,000 for any pending strategulatory matters; and \$35,000 for the

forfeiture action.Id. Castro explained that he "negotiated these retainer agreements in good faith for the purpose of preserving [his] assets and professional reputation." AE:176. According to his **swn** financial disclosures, at the time of the transfers the funds in the Custodiacounts constituted more than 90% of the Castros' liquid assets. SER:892-913 astro earlier had also engaged Marc Forsythe as co-Defense Counsel, paying him a \$500,000 "earned upon receipt" fee. AE:250-54.

On February 2, FTC counsel notifi**S** pivack that the FTC was terminating settlement discussions with Castro becauses failure to comply with requests for information regarding the "trust" funds. SER:919-20, 934. Castro never informed FTC staff that he had transferred the funds to his counsel, SER:919-20, and later explained that "I didn't 'sueptitiously' tell Ms. Watson to withdraw funds to pay my new counsel. I simply did not tell the FTC . . . of my business and legal strategy." AE:178. Spivack also tified FTC counsel that Benice and Forsythe would be representing Castro going forward. SER:934.

On April 7, the district court froze Defendants' assets, including assets that

⁵ On February 7, 2005, Forsythe's firm returned some retainer funds, writing a check for \$270,000 made out to "Phyllis I. Watson, trustee of Castro's Children's Trust," a newly formed, alledly irrevocable trust. SER:854-55, 918, 932.

third parties held on behalf of, or fthre benefit of, Defendants. SER:953-55.

Meanwhile, Castro submitted a sworn state that the

Case: 09-15684 12/09/2009 Page: 31 of 97 ID: 7158242 DktEntry: 23

83.

In particular, the district court found that NSD raised no genuine issue of fact regarding NSD's misrepresentation bout locating and installing kiosks, finding "pivotal" NSD's obligation to locate and install kiosks, despite the delegation of the task to BVC. AE:1278NSD's sales agreement and offering circular, however, incontrovertibly obliged NSD to locate and install the kiosks, and it was a misrepresentation of NSDstopromise given defendants' knowledge that the installations were not being donetheir reckless disregard for whyld. The district court found that the Defendants had not raised a genuine issue of material fact regarding their false earnings claims. AE:1281-82. The court also rejected Defendants' argument that therinfit claims were not false because they were based on a viable business motifieding actual, not theoretical, profitability to be material. AE:1282. The coalts ruled that Defendants "failed to adequately contest . . . that the corperchafendants formed a common enterprise." AE:1283.

The court concluded that Defendants lasso violated the FTC's Franchise Rule. AE:1283-84. It held that the meas "no genuine issue of fact regarding defendants' violation of the Franchise le," because the court had rejected Defendants' claim that they engage chim improper conduct. AE:1284. It said

that the Franchise Rule "provide[d] allteanative basis for the court's judgment." Id.

The district court also concluded that Castro and High were individually liable for equitable monetary relief for **IDS** violations of the FTC Act and the Franchise Rule, because they "were reckleiss different to the truth or falsity of the representations [NSD] was making tonsumers." AE:1279. "The facts put Castro and High, as sophisticated businessiment field, on notice of installation and other problems, and they recklessis regarded those warnings." AE:1281. The district court found that the individual defendants knew that kiosks were not being installed and should have verificated being installed by the should have verificated being installed by the should have verificated by the should be also being installed by the should be also being installed by the should be also be also being installed by the should be also be also being installed by the should be also be also being installed by the should be also be also being by the should be also be also being installed by the should be also be also being by the should be also be also be also being by the should be also be also being by the should be also be also being by the should be also be also be also be also being by the should be also be also be also be also being by the should be also be did Castro take a hands-off approacle to ilacqua's operation, but he complied with and perpetuated a 'Chinese Maetween NSD and BVC regarding installation and maintenance activities A:E:1279. The court found that Castro's own incredulity in the face of BVC's eggerated claims about the pace at which BVC could locate and install Internetoksiks reflected his "awareness of a high probability of fraud" as well "intentional moidances of the truth." AE:1280. The court also rejected Defendants' claithat they were duped by BVC and did not become aware of BVC's failure to install kiosks until March 2004. AE:1280-81.

⁶ The FTC and Forsythe settled Forsyshæbligation to return consumers funds to the FTC. SER:3-7.

ordered him to re-file his request using \$300 hourly rate. SER:1-2. Benice filed a revised request for \$194,382 on February 2009, and on February 26, 2009, the district court accepted the FTC's and Benice's stipulation that he would receive \$136,700 in fees and costs, if the district court's order requiring return of attorney's fees were not otherwise overt

the district court's conclusion that Craos and High had the requisite knowledge of NSD's failure to disclose information equired by the Franchise Rule, so the district court's ordering Castro and to pay consumers redress for the Franchise Rule violations should not be ensed. In any event, Defendants' claim that Castro and High did not know about problems with NSD's Internet kiosk program until March 2004 does not negate in knowledge of or reckless disregard for NSD's Franchise Rule disclosure fates. The Court, thus, may affirm the district court without reaching Castro's and High's liability for the Section 5(a) violations.

If it reaches Defendants' Section 5(a) argument, the Court should still affirm. The record is replete with exide, such as complaints about non-existent kiosks and revenues, that Castro anglit-participated in and knew about NSD's deceptive marketing of Internet kiosks participants in NSD's deception, they personally wooed consumers nationwindth promises of profitable kiosk locations, monthly payments generalbenckiosk usage, and substantial annual returns, all the while knowing that the chai were untrue or unsubstantiated. The FTC's substantial and specific evidenshowed that Castro and High had actual knowledge of NSD's kiosk problems and dissintinued misrepresentations. At a minimum, the evidence showthat they were recklessly indifferent to these

Case: 09-15684 12/09/2009 Page: 36 of 97 ID: 7158242 DktEntry: 23

funds in those accounts traced to Defendants' unlawful conduct. The district court's conclusion was also supported the finding that Defendants formed a common enterprise, as well as unrefutered lence that all corporate Defendants directly or indirectly participated iand benefitted from the unlawful conduct.

Accordingly, the Defendants' commingling of the consumer funds with other revenues did not immunize funds in the Custodial Accounts from impression of the constructive trust.

Nor did the district court err in ordering Benice to return \$283,300 to the FTC for consumer redress. Benice Inactice that the funds used to pay his "earned upon receipt" retainer could takented, because the FTC had already communicated to Defendants its intentile suit alleging FTC Act violations by the time they retained him. Neverliess, he failed to discharge his duty to determine that the funds, in fact, cafroem lawful activities. The steps Benice claims to have taken, such as consinterwhether Internet kiosks were a viable business model, did not suffice to discharge his duty. As a result, Benice was not a purchaser for value, and the constructive trust remained on the consumer funds after Defendants transferred them to Benite district court correctly ordered Benice to return those funds.

Case: 09-15684 12/09/2009 Page: 38 of 97 ID: 7158242 DktEntry: 23

ARGUMENT

Case: 09-15684 12/09/2009 Page: 39 of 97 ID: 7158242 DktEntry: 23

⁷ The Court in Entertainment Researchuoting

Case: 09-15684 12/09/2009 Page: 40 of 97 ID: 7158242 DktEntry: 23

violation." The district court agreewith the FTC that Defendants violated the Franchise Rule, AE:1281-82, 1284, 1563-2044 accordingly ordered Castro and High to pay consumer redress. AE:157609- Defendants do not challenge these rulings, limiting their appeal to Castro's and High's knowledge of the Section 5(a) violations. Br. 4, 28-30.

In any event, Defendants' claim (£21, 28) that Castro and High were ignorant of problems with the kiosk program would not shield them from consumer redress liability for the Franchise Rulipolations. NSD's Franchise Rule disclosure violations were independen **Bor**C's failure to install kiosks. The kiosks thatwere installedailed to generate the revees NSD represented, thus violating the Rule's earnings claimsquirements. 16 C.F.R. § 436.1(b)-(c) (2005). Even with installed kiosks, NSDolated the Rule's advertising disclosure requirements, 16 C.F.R. § 436.1(e) (2005) misrepresenting information about earnings achieved by prior kiosk purchasers. NSD's offering circular also did not accurately describe BVC's fancial condition, in violation of 16 C.F.R. § 436.1(a) (2005). Castro's and High's knowledge and responsibility for these disclosure violations, SER:343-46, 433-34, 1374, while before the challenge, would remain. Accordingly, the Court can affirthe district court's ordering Castro and High to pay monetary redress for Franchase violations without reaching the

issue of their liability for Section 5(a) violations.

- C. The District Court CorrectlyConcluded That the Individual Defendants Failed to Controvert the Commission's Showing That They Had Knowledge of the Corporate Defendants' Deception
 - Individual Defendants' Knowledge of Deceptive Conduct Creates Personal Liability

An individual may be held liable foinjunctiverelief for a corporation's violations of the FTC Act, if a court findbat the individual (1) participated in the deceptive practices or (2) hadthority to control themFTC v. Publishing Clearing House104 F.3d 1168, 1170 (9th Cir. 199F), C v. Amy Travel Servs., Inc., 875 F.2d 564, 573 (7th Cir. 1989). Authority to control can be evidenced by "active involvement in business affairs and the making of corporate policy, including assuming the duties of a corporate office chi Travel 875 F.2d at 573; see also FTC v. NCH, Incl 995-2 Trade Cas. (CCH) ¶ 71,114 at 75,351 (D. Nev. 1995) aff'd, 106 F.3d 407 (9th Cir. 1997), TC v. American Standard Credit Sys., Inc. 874 F. Supp. 1080, 1089 (C.D. Cal. 1997), C v. Jordan Ashley, Inc. 1994-1 Trade Cas. (CCH) ¶ 70,570 (S.D. Fla. 1994).

To obtain equitable monetary relieform an individual for corporate misconduct, the FTC must also show the individual had knowledge of the deception. Publishing Clearing House 04 F.3d at 1171. Knowledge can be

demonstrated by showing actual knowledgenaterial misrepresentations, reckless indifference to the truth ofstay of the misrepresentations, or an awareness of a high probability of fraud allowith an intentional avoidance of the truth; the Commission need not show intent to defradd.FTC v. Wolf 1997-1 Trade Cas. (CCH) ¶ 71,713 at 79,080 (S.D. Fla. 1996). The extent of an individual's participation in the unlated conduct may alone be sufficient to establish the requisite knowledgeTC v. Affordable Media, LLC179 F.3d 1228, 1235 (9th Cir. 1999)qtting FTC v. Sharp782 F. Supp. 1445, 1450 (D. Nev.1991)); Amy Travel 875 F.2d at 574.

Castro and High do not challenge the district court's granting summary judgment for the FTC on the issue of **th**(ais well as Elizabeth Castro's) liability for injunctive relief. The issue is notisted in their brief's Statement of Issues, Defendants Br. 1-7, or the portion the Statent of Facts that serves as the brief's legal argumentid. at 28-30. While their brief's factual recitation denies High's corporate officer and management rolasswell as his participation in NSD's deception, Br. 14, Defendants present regularients that his (or Castro's) level of participation and control did not suffe for individual liability for injunctive

⁸ In any event, the assertions regardHigh's level of participation in and control over the activities of corporatefeedants were made in unsubstantiated affidavits, which were not an adequated base.

promotional materials that contained mixtures representations about the amount of income that purchasers would earne, the ailability and existence of profitable kiosk locations, the source of monthly incomed the very existence of the kiosks. Rather than taking steps to substantiate the arrange claims and to ensure that NSD's kiosk program ran as represed, Defendants delegated their responsibilities to BVC and erected a firewall between themselves and BVC.

That firewall did not keep Castro and High in the dark about problems with NSD's kiosk program. Evidence moed that BVC was not locating and installing kiosks, not communicating with customers, and not paying them the substantial sums promoted by Defentes Castro and High knew about, yet ignored, these problems and continuel insee In so doing, they defrauded consumers out of millions of dollars. Decants are mistaken when they claim that the district court ignored or disterved their claims that they were duped by BVC. Br. 29. Rather, the district couroncluded that Defendants' claims lacked evidentiary support and were belied by the suacatinion of the sua

those problems and had awareness of the high probability of fraud coupled with intentional avoidance of the trutAE:1280, 1281. These determinations were supported by direct evidence of their knowledge of problems with the kiosk program, as well as by their personal involvement and control over NSD's, and purposeful avoidance of BVC's, activitieAffordable Media,179 F.3d at 1235.

a. Castro and High had direct knowledge

There is substantial evidence of Castrdirect knowledge of NSD's Internet kiosk problems and its continued deceptive conduct. He knew that purchasers were going to supposed kiosk locationed finding none installed. SER:322-23, 348-49, 401-05, 428, 471. Castro acknowledged the existence of the missing kiosks in a December 2003 email to Bevilacqua, calling it a "huge" issue, SER:428, 430, and Bevilacqua confirmedttBVC was behind in installations. SER:320-21. He also received compliain agents about BVC's failure to provide purchasers with an accounting he revenues generated by their machines, SER:242-43, 247-52, 656-58, about BVC's failure to provide agents with BVC's financial statements, SER:9-50, and about difficulties agents had communicating with BVC. SER:338-3\$still, Castro continued marketing and selling kiosks until March 2004. SER:340.

Likewise, High knew about the kiosk problems and that NSD's kiosk

activities were deceptive. Agents candled High about non-existent kiosks, SER:230-31, 238-39, 425, 460, 618-20, bedadmitted to having received as many as 30 complaints. AE:604. Weited several locations and found that kiosks had not been installed. SER:4667,-616. When he asked Bevilacqua about missing kiosks, Bevilacqua conceded the hythad not been installed or reassigned to other locations. SER:616. Desphile knowledge of uninstalled kiosks, High continued to assign kiosks to purchase encluding strategically selecting (at BVC's request) locations far from where early and purchasers resided. SER:470, 617.

b. Castro and High were reckless

Even if Castro and High did not have direct knowledge of problems with NSD's kiosk program and continued detice, there is overwhelming evidence of their recklessness and their awareness hough probability of fraud. Despite the fact that NSD remained contractual und to locate and install kiosks, Castro agreed to a firewall between NSD's daBVC's operations, SER:334-35, and NSD took no steps to ensure that kiosks were being located and installed by BVC. SER:324-25, 328-29, 359-60, 377, 406-09, 412-15, 423-24. NSD also did not request information from BVC relating to kiosk usage or profitability. SER:333-34, 741-42.

Further evidence of Castro's recklessness is his continued lack of due diligence in the face of a dramatic risckiosk purchases in 2003 and early 2004. Despite his awareness of growing kioslesaCastro took no steps to ensure that kiosks were being installed at a sufficiente. SER:377-78. Nor did he wait for BVC to install kiosks for the Diamond Program before continuing to sell more NSD kiosk business opportunities. SER:340.

Castro's recklessness is all the more evident given his own incredulity at Bevilaqua's kiosk claims.

Castro also testified that thetiesates that Bevilacqua gave for installing machines (20,000 over eighteen months, or even thirty months) "made [Castro] want to choke." Castro was therefore not only aware of such exaggerations, but indifferently accepted Bevilacqua's words and excuses even though he knew Bevilacqua to stretch the truth.

AE:1280. Nonetheless, Castro agreed firewall and continued selling.

SER:323-25, 328-29, 340, 347-50, 377-78, 407-09, 412-15, 423-24.

Castro's recklessness is also decouseCt257or even teu renx71ei> ct[(Cg3/5 0 TD .

Further evidence of Castro's recklessness regarding the \$1,000/month claim was his awareness that a typical kiosk would generate only \$300 to \$400/month and that kiosks generating as much as \$50/day were atypical. SER:298-99.

Like Castro, High ignored evidence of NSD's deception. Although he had the means to determine whether and wkersks were being installed, such as responsibility for assigning kiosk locatis and access to BVC's database of supposedly installed kiosks, AE:501; 18:1293-95, 801, he did not take steps to discover if BVC had, in fact, installed siks on behalf of NSD's clients, SER:469, even in the face of umerous complaints.

c. Castro and High were deeply involved

Castro's and High's extensive pairbiation in NSD's activities further supports the conclusion that they handwledge sufficient for personal monetary liability. Affordable Media 179 F.3d at 1235. Castro was an NSD officer and owner. AE:3, 119; SER:286-87, 1316-203,47. As detailed above, Castro helped develop NSD's marketing and promotial materials and communicated with agents and customers. SER:334, 336438, 518-63. Through these activities, he

Case: 09-15684 12/09/2009 Page: 50 of 97 ID: 7158242 DktEntry: 23

1109, 1171-86, 1373, 1383.

High's control over and involvement NSD's activities were also extensive. Besides being an officer of NSD and manager, SER:257-58, 276, 286, 289, 293, 437, 1267, he had responsibilitylegal compliance, SER:433-34, 1374, created and disseminated promotal material, SER:144-52, 294, 450, 488-89, 564, 745, and communicated with agents and customers. SER:179, 183-89, 229, 237, 276-77, 805-07, 1268-80. He also promoted the Diamond Program. SER:189, 192-228, 474, 477-78, 571-74.

In short, Castro's and High's participation in NSD's activities are "strong evidence" of their knowledge of problems with NSD's kiosk program and its continued misrepresentation See Affordable Media 179 F.3d at 1235. The district court correctly held them persally liable for equitable monetary relief.

 Defendants' Claims of Ignorance of Uninstalled Kiosks and Other Problems Lacked Support and Did Not Create Genuinely Disputed Facts

The Commission's overwhelming evidentiary submission satisfied its burden to prevail on summary judgme See Celotex Corp. v. Catrett 477 U.S. 317, 323 (1986). The burden then shiftee Defendants to show that genuine issues remained for trial Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, In 477 U.S. 242, 250 (1986). Defendants needed to "do morants imply show that there [was] some

metaphysical doubt as to the material factsdätsushita 475 U.S. at 586. Rather, Rule 56(e) provides that "an opposing partay not rely merely on allegations or denials in its own pleadings," but mustroe forward with "specific facts showing a genuine issue for trial." Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e);

above that Castro and High knew about problems with the kiosk program, or should have known given their extensiveticapation in it, but also by their frequent contact with BVC. The recdadstles with unrefuted evidence of Castro and Bevilacqua's working closely tother. SER:240-45, 275, 278, 281, 309-10, 314-15, 356-57, 1258-65, 1281-84. One NSD purchaser stated that, given Castro's and Bevilacqua's closeness, he could "frathom that Charlie did not know that something was wrong with the program." SER:716. Similarly, High regularly communicated with BVC, SER:177-79, 294, 337. He consulted with BVC regarding site assignments, SER: 14653, 467-68, 616, and even had access to BVC's Intranet site "to keep [NSD] updates to kiosk installation." AE:501. Despite their access to BVC, Castro and Hinever verified kiosk installations, even in the face of NSD's obligations to and install the kiosks and their notice of growing problems.

Rather than refute the foregoing exhibite, Defendants proffered Castro's and High's conclusory declarations the theorem all denied knowledge of BVC's alleged fraudulent concealment. AE:5004,-603-04. These general denials, however, so lacked specificity and substating that they could not suffice to raise

a genuine issue of material faretgarding Castro's and High's knowledge, especially given the FTC's evidenceath Castro and High knew about the kiosk problems but continued selling anywary ublishing Clearing House 04 F.3d at 1170.

Defendants attempt in their brief bouttress these self-serving declarations but to no avail. They claim they umbbook due diligence before NSD entered into a relationship with BVC, Br. 17, but, there was any due diligence, it was missing once the kiosk program began. Defendant not cite, because they do not exist, documents showing that NSD engaged in any due diligence during the 3-year period that BVC was the sole supplied anstaller of NSD kiosks. Meanwhile, Defendants' assertion that in December 10 Castro "was presented with daily revenue reports from Bevilacqua show irevenue history on approximately 72 machines," Br. 19, is undermined by the solutions own statements that Bevilacqua prohibited him from seeing revenue datace the kiosk program began. SER:333-34, 741-42. For similar reasons, the laim to have relied on Bevilacqua's computer demonstrations in the BVC offiand purported "verbal statements," Br.

⁹ To be sure, Defendants' submissions to the district court included many pages of documents, but these were not significantly probative of Castro's and High's claimed ignorance of problems with NSD's Internet kiosk program and NSD's continued misleading marketing and sales efforts.

Case: 09-15684 12/09/2009 Page: 55 of 97 ID: 7158242 DktEntry: 23

diligence and "[n]one ever reported@astro any abnormalities in his business practices or gave any general senseconcern." Br. 20 (citing AE No. 9 at 899; Castro opposition Dec., ¶ 14). This conclussatatement in Castro's declaration pales in contrast to record evidence showing that NSD was deluged with expressions of concern from agents albelow. SER:36-52, 55-56, 58-60, 64-67, 184, 187-88, 246-48, 253-56, 348-49, 401-4062-14, 421-22, 428-29. As for Defendants' claim that "[b]y Februsa 2004, Bevilacqua had indicated to Defendant Castro that he was caught upnetallation," Br. 21, Defendants again fail to offer any substantiating evidenceven if Bevilacqua did make such a claim, contemporaneous complaints received by Castro in February 2004 put him on notice that BVC wassot in fact caught up. SER:51-52, 57, 187, 412-14, 421-22.

In sum, Defendants' claim that they were duped by BVC lacked the evidentiary support necessary to raise a greentaict dispute. The district court correctly granted summary judgment for the FTC, and this Court should affirm.

II .	THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN

duty to reconvey it to the rightful owner FTC v. Crittenden 823 F. Supp. 699, 703 (C.D. Cal. 1993) aff'd, 19 F.3d 26 (9th Cir. 1994). "[T]he holder of legal title to property is deemed to be trustee of the property for the benefit of another who is entitled to it." SEC v. Elmas Trading Copp 83 F. Supp. 743, 747 (D. Nev. 1987).

State law governs whether a constructive trust exists. North American Coin, 767 F.2d at 1575, and the district dospropriately applied California law. AE:1283. The elements of constructivest under California law are: "(1) the existence of a res; (2) the plaintiffight to the res; and (3) the defendant's acquisition of the res by some wrongful actituted as 823 F. Supp. at 703. A finding that "the acquisition of property was wrongful and that the keeping of the property by the defendant would constitute enrichment" suffices to establish a constructive trustld. (quoting Calistoga Civic Center v. City of Calistoga 1 Cal. Rptr. 571, 576 (Cal. Ct. App. 1983) a also United States v. Peg 82 F.2d 1498, 1499-1500 (9th Cir. 1986) HK Assocs. v. Mayer Group, In 274 Cal. Rptr. 168, 182 (Cal. Ct. App. 1990) avid Welch Co. v. Erksine & Tulle 50 Cal. Rptr. 339, 344 (Cal Ct. App. 1988). A showing of fraud or intentional

¹⁰ A constructive trust also exists under Nevada lawcken v. Locker98 Nev. 369, 372, 650 P.2d 803, 805 (1982).

Case: 09-15684 12/09/2009 Page: 59 of 97 ID: 7158242 DktEntry: 23

misrepresentation is not requiredrittenden, 823 F. Supp. at 703.

All three constructive trust elements restatisfied here. First, the FTC's expert, Dr. Kenneth Kelly, traced the restat is, the funds in the Custodial Accounts used to pay Benice, to compter Defendants, which Defendants admit. AE:136-37, 172. Second, the district court properly found that the funds in the Custodial Accounts came from consumers. AE:1283. Third, the district court properly found that the Defendants acquired the funds through acts that violated the FTC Act and the Franchise RuleE:1284, 1285. Accordingly, "the acquisition of [the funds] was wrongful" and "the keeping of [the funds] by the defendant would constitute unjust enrichmer de Crittender B23 F. Supp. at 703.

To challenge the district court's impression of the constructive trust,

Defendants claim that (a) the FTC used the wrong methodology to trace the funds in the Custodial Accounts to corporate fendants, and (b) a constructive trust cannot be impressed on this group of coates Defendants. Br. 44-50. They have not shown that the district court abused its discretion.

 The FTC Proved That Defendants Paid Benice With Tainted Funds

The district court concluded that FTC has established by clear and convincing evidence that the [attorney sees funds derived from corporate defendants' proceeds, that defendants uisition of the funds was wrongful, and that the FTC is entitled to the proceedown consumer redress." AE:1515. Only the FTC submitted credible, substantible vidence on the tracing issue. This evidence included five expert declaration funds in the Custodial Accounts to corporate Defendants. AE27-39; SER:77-78, 697-712, 850-52, 1389-1402 (under seal). Using the "lowest intermetibalance" or "LIB" rule the Defendants claim should be used (Br. 48-49), the FTC traced 100% of the \$875,000 paid to Defense Counsel to corporate Dedents (SER:1390-91, 1396 (under seal)), 100% to NSD and NSM (SER:1390-91, 1398 (under seal)), and 90% (\$795,711) to NSD alone (SER:1390-91, 1401 (under sea b) contrast, Defendants submitted no evidence that traced the funds using the tule or that refuted the FTC's LIBbased tracing results. On this record, the district court would have abused its discretion had inot ruled for the FTC.

Nonetheless, the Defendants maintain the FTC failed to trace using the LIB rule, Br. 44-46, 48-50, an obvious erroneous contention. The Defendants'

Case: 09-15684 12/09/2009 Page: 61 of 97 ID: 7158242 DktEntry: 23

Defense Counsel, withdrew from the commingled accounts, the funds withdrawn were taintedi(e., traceable to the scama), ther than untainted. This initial tracing still definitively traced \$675,000 to corporate Defendants. SER:852. The LIB rule flips the assumption.

Defendants critique the FTC's initialating (while ignoring the LIB-based one) by focusing on statements that the FTC's expert could not "definitely establish" that 100% of the funds tracecorporate Defendants using a tracing method that favored them. Br. 47-48. existing the FTC had not corroborated this initial tracing with the LIB-based on Defendants' critique would remain unsupported. First, Castro (not a tracing expert) opined that only \$425,000 in the Custodial Accounts came from NSD. AE:173-74. The FTC showed, however, that Castro's numbers ignored funds thraiginated with NSD but came into the Custodial Accounts indirectly due to Castro's penchant for shuffling funds among accounts. SER:852. Second, the criticalies on the counter-factual assumption that funds from NSM, Sunbelt and NSDistreenot tainted. The record evidence proves that all corporate Defendants, directly, participated in and benefitted from deceptive kiosk sales.

Defendants also challenge the reilial of the FTC's evidence by claiming that the FTC failed to analyze whether the \$300,000 returned by Forsythe in

February 2005 and used by the Castros to set up a new trust came from NSD or from the other corporate Defendants' ladvactivities. Br. 48. Defendants are wrong. Castroadmittedthat this money "was likely derived from NSD." AE:185. Moreover, Defendants did "not contese the TC's] allegations relating to these specific monies." AE:1283. Thus, there is basis to claim that the district court abused its discretion by imposing a constructive trust on the funds held in Custodial Accounts and used to pay Defense Counsel.

2. Funds from All Corporate Defendants Were Properly Impressed with the Constructive Trust

Defendants also claim that the "FTCargument in the district court that a constructive trust can be imposed by tracing funds to a 'common enterprise' was meritless." Br. 46. The claim seertorshave three elements, each unfounded.

First, Defendants may be arguing that there was no common enterprise among corporate Defendants or that a constructive trust could not be imposed on it. To determine whether a common enterpeixists, courts look at various factors, such as "whether there is common cohorothe entities, whether the entities are distinct and operate at arms-lengthnfrone another, and whether the entities commingle funds." CFTC v. Wall St. Underground, In 281 F. Supp. 2d 1260, 1271 (D. Kan. 2003) of ting Sunshine Art Studios, In 481 F.2d 1171, 1175 (1st

Cir. 1973);FTC v. Think Achievement Corp.44 F. Supp. 2d 993, 1011 (N.D. Ind. 2000)). Here, the four Castro companish ared ownership and management, AE:3, 109, 117, 119; SER:936, office space, AE:2-3, 108, 117, 119; SER:286, telephone numbers, SER:766, 790, 82642301-02, email addresses, SER:232, 571-74, 826, employees, SER:436-4339-40, 790, 824-26, and operations, SER:263-67. Directly or indirectly, all weinevolved in the sale of Internet kiosks to consumers, as described abos ER:233-36, 776-779. They routinely transferred funds among themselves, SER:703-06, and in numerous instances one company paid the expenses of another, SER:704-05.

Based on this evidence, the distrioturt concluded that the corporate Defendants formed a common entiesre, AE:1283, 1514, and Defendants' conclusory denial on brief does not sufftoechallenge the court's conclusion. In any event, to the extent Defendants' classinthat the district court could not have impressed a constructive trust on their common enterprise, they cite no authority. In fact, courts have rejected efforts dayrporate defendants to shield themselves, on grounds that they were innocent by shears, from liability for their affiliates' wrongdoing. See Assail410 F.3d at 263 (finding no clear error in court's freezing assets of both named and unnamed defets dashere companies transferred funds in and out of one another's accossisted had joint operation centers also

Delaware Watch Co. v. FT, 32 F.2d 745, 746 (2nd Cir. 1965) unshine Art Studios 481 F.2d at 1175, Vall Street Underground 218 F. Supp. 2d at 1271.

Second, Defendants may be arguing that the Sunbelt and NSM funds in the Custodial Accounts came from lawful activities and should not have been impressed with the constructive trust. fact, all corporate Defendants participated in and profited from the Internet kiosk scheme. Numerous documents confirm NSM's involvement in NSD's deceptive kiosk activites. SER:372-74, 473-74, 476, 776, 778-79, 1054-55. In addition, NSM induced consumers to exchange their payphones for kiosks by repeating M&D sales pitch that kiosks would be installed at profitable locations and wdudenerate a substantial monthly income stream. SER:1054-55, 1154, 1158. Some of these clients had purchased payphone business opportunities from Sunbelt, but many of these payphones did not exist. SER:849. By substituting kiosks for payphones, Sunbelt and Castro did not need to return money that consumers paidthese non-existent payphones and thereby profited from the switch. Thus, the commentive trust properly included funds from Sunbelt payphone purchasers who welledonto the kiosk program and non-Sunbelt payphone purchases who were doller the kiosk venture through NSM.

Finally, Defendants may be arguing that the commingling of NSD monies with monies from other corporate Defendants somehow shields the money from a

constructive trust. Under Californiaw, however, the act of commingling does not destroy the constructive trustitichell v. Dunn 211 Cal, 129, 136, 294 P. 386, 389 (1930). Further, in an analogous contens Court rejected a claim that a debtor's commingling of sales tax continuous with other revenues prevented creation of a statutory trustn re Megafoods Stores, Ind.63 F.3d at 1067-68 (applying Texas law) see also Begier v. IR\$496 U.S. 53, 60-61 (1990) (debtor cannot avoid trust by refusing to segregate) would be grossly inequitable to allow Defendants to shield revenues firtheir unlawful activities through their own act of commingling.

- C. The District Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion in Rejecting Benice's Claim to Consumer Funds
 - 1. Benice Had a Duty of Inquiry, Which He Failed to Discharge

The district court's having properly impressed a constructive trust on the Custodial Accounts, the issue becomes wher the court abused its discretion in concluding that Benice was not a good faith purchaser for value. "[T]hat a transferee was not the original wrongdoer does not insulate him from liability for restitution." Harris Trust & Sav. Bank v. Salomon Smith Barney, 1560 U.S. 238, 251 (2000) (internal quotations omitted). A constructive trust can "reach the property either in the hands of the omign wrongdoer, or in the hands of any

Case: 09-15684 12/09/2009 Page: 67 of 97 ID: 7158242 DktEntry: 23

was subject to forfeiture," which by analogy applies to the FTC Adt.at 265 (quotingRacketeer Influenced and Corroptganizations Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1963(I)(6)(B) (2000)). Fourth, "a party cannot be a bona fide purchaser where the circumstances surrounding the conveyance would lead a reasonable person to doubt the validity of the transfer Assail 410 F.3d at 264-265 (citirogcGraw v. Connelly, 838 F.2d 844, 849 (6th Cir. 1988)). In short, "an attorney is not permitted to be willfully ignorant of hower representation is funded" and, thus, has a duty to inquire as to the sourcehouse fees if the attorney is objectively on notice that the funds may be tainteressail 410 F.3d at 265.

Because Benice had notice that the function to pay him may have come from Defendants' unlawful activities, hedha duty of inquiry which he failed to discharge. When he accepted the futhers, FTC already had provided Defendants with a proposed complaint that charged all of Castro's businesses, including Sunbelt and NSM, with violating the FTACt and Franchise Rule, as well as a letter describing those conclusion SE:1514; SER:9-24, 934. Although Benice does not admit to having read the FTC afticomplaint and letter, or any other documents sent by the FTC to Defendants through their prior counsel, AE:1445-48, 1514-15, he does concede that unexpersioned Defendants were in a dispute with the FTC and that the FTC bull deventually take action against them."

AE:1448 (emphasis in original). **Noc** of Defendants' potential liability destroyed Benice's bona fide purchaser sta**S**. **EXEC**Assail, 410 F.3d at 266 ("[T]he mere fact that an attorney has readir. In the temperature of the transfer of the

Moreover, even a quick review of Crass sworn FTC financial disclosure form signed prior to his retention ER:892-913) would have shown that the Custodial Accounts contained an overwhielenmajority of Castro's liquid assets and that Defendants would need to use these funds to pay Benice. AE:1445-47. Benice also knew that the funds came fitting very Custodial Accounts that were the subject of settlement negotiation is that the FTC. SER: 920-21. Moreover, Castro did not hide his concern about that the funds in the Custodial Accounts were reachable by creditors like FTC. SER:855-56. Especially given Defendants' claim that Benice review Defendants' financials, Benice should have realized that the Custodial Accepts did in fact derive from Defendants' common enterprise in which all corporal efendants participated, directly or indirectly. On this record, the district court did not abuse its discretion in finding that Benice had notice that his feitely came from tainted funds. AE:1514-15.

Given the foregoing, Defendants' contentions that Benice "properly

Case: 09-15684 12/09/2009 Page: 70 of 97 ID: 7158242 DktEntry: 23

innocence but rather, as the district documcluded, merely served their self-interest once they realized that those of cards was collapsing. AE:1283.

Learning that Castro was not an FBI suspect (Br. 40) also does not discharge the duty of inquiry given that Castro was the subject of an FTC investigation, as well as a state regulatory investigation for the Benice had also been retained.

AE:256, 316-317. Finally and as the total court concluded (AE:1283), there is no evidence in the record, other than Dockents' unsubstantiated declarations, that NSD ever refunded \$5,000,000 of consumer funds (see Br. 40).

Defendants next claim that Benice discharged his duty by asking Phyllis Watson about the funds' source. Br. 41. Especially given the surrounding circumstances, Benice's taking Ms. Watsoword that the funds may have come from Sunbelt and NSM was not sufficient to satisfy his degreeAssail, 410 F.3d at 266 (once on notice, attorney "neededdomore than simply take his client at his word that the fees were not taintedFurther, Ms. Watson admitted that she was not involved in the Castro's bussiseSER:817-18, making her an unreliable source of information about the origins of the money in the Custodial Accounts.

In addition, the fact that money came from Sunbelt and NSM (Br. 41) strongly suggests taint given those **Drefa**nts' involvement in the fraudulent scheme. AE:3, 108; SER:372, 473-7476, 776, 778-79, 790-91, 824, 1054-55.

To the extent Sunbelt's and NSM's bussis activities were legitimate when they began depositing funds into those counts in 1999, Defendants did not demonstrate that untainted money remained in those accounts by the time Benice was paid in 2005. In fact, under LIBating, 100% of the funds can be traced to NSD and NSM, SER:1390-91, 1398 (under seal), meaning that no "untainted" Sunbelt funds remained to pay Beniæd 200% of funds can be traced to NSD alone. SER:1390-91, 1401 (under seal).

Accordingly, the district court did not abuse its discretion in finding that Benice was paid from consumer funds ject to a constructive trust and that Benice did not accept the fees in good faith. AE:1514-15. Having failed to discharge his duty of inquiry, Benice cannot be a good faith purchaser for value. SeeMcGraw, 838 F.2d at 849. The appropriate remedy is the return of consumer funds paid to him as fees sail 410 F.3d at 265.

2. Defendants Fail to Prove that Benice Is Otherwise Entitled to Retain \$375,000

Defendants' other contentions fohwBenice should be permitted to keep \$375,000 in consumer funds are readily disposed of.

First, Defendants insist that the conser funds used to pay Benice became his property upon his receipt of the fee payment. Br. 35-38 (diting Heritage

Case: 09-15684 12/09/2009 Page: 73 of 97 ID: 7158242 DktEntry: 23

¹¹ In any event, the case is inapposite, because it does not address an attorney's entitlement to consumer fundattare subject to a constructive trust at the time of payment. The debtors Heritage Mallsought approval from a bankruptcy court to retain counsel undeproposed retention agreement, while here Defendants defend Benice's retain faits accompli 184 B.R. at 129. Heritage Mall

there was no need for the court to makelings regarding the fraudulent-transfer or asset-freeze grounds for return of the funds.

Finally, Defendants disagree with the district court's using a \$300 hourly rate to set attorney's fees. Br. 50. ②2 muary 7, 2009, the district court rejected a higher rate, finding that Defendants had not supported Benice's claimed \$475 hourly rate. AE:1553-1554. While opperal Defendants renew Benice's claim for an hourly rate higher than \$300, the principle to provide no factual or legal support. The Court should affirm the district court's findings and permit Benice to retain \$136,700 as an equitable fee allowance.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the district court's decisions should be affirmed in their entirety.

LISA D. ROSENTHAL KERRY O'BRIEN Attorneys Federal Trade Commission San Francisco, CA 94103 Respectfully submitted,

WILLARD K. TOM General Counsel

JOHN F. DALY Deputy General Counsel for Litigation

/s/Mark S. Hegedus
MARK S. HEGEDUS
Attorney
Federal Trade Commission
600 Pennsylvania Avenue NW
Washington, D.C. 20580
(202) 326-3115
Fax (202) 326-2477

December 9, 2009

STATEMENT OF RELATED CASES

U. S. Court of Appeals Docket Number(s): 09-15684

Pursuant to Circuit Rule 28-2.6, Pltiff—Appellee Federal Trade Commission is not aware of any related cases pending in this Court.

Case: 09-15684 12/09/2009 Page: 76 of 97 ID: 7158242 DktEntry: 23

STATUTORY ADDENDUM

15 U.S.C. § 45(a)

- (a) Declaration of unlawfulness; power to prohibit unfair practices; inapplicability to foreign trade.
 - (1) Unfair methods of competition in or affecting commerce, and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or affecting commerce, are hereby declared unlawful.
 - (2) The Commission is hereby empowered and directed to prevent persons, partnerships, or corporations, except banks, savings and loan institutions described in section 18(f)(3), Federal credit unions described in section 18(f)(4), common carriers subject to the Acts to regulate commerce, air carriers and foreign

Case: 09-15684 12/09/2009 Page: 78 of 97 ID: 7158242 DktEntry: 23

injunction shall be dissolved by the court and be further force and effect: Provided further, That in proper cases the Commission may seek, and after proper proof, the court may issue, a permanent injunction. Any suit may be brought where such person, partnership, or corporation resides or transacts business, or wherever venue is proper under section 1391 of title 28, United States Code. In addition, the court may, if the court determines that the interests of justice require that any other person, partnership, or corporation should be a party in such suit, cause such other person, partnership, or corporatid metadded as a party without regard to whether venue is otherwise proper in the district in which the suit is brought. In any suit under this section, process may be served on any person, partnership, or corporation wherever it may be found.

15 U.S.C. § 57b

- (a) Suits by Commission against persons, partnerships, or corporations; jurisdiction; relief for dishonest or fraudulent acts.
 - (1) If any person, partnership, or corporation violates any rule under this Act respecting unfair or deceptive acts or practices (other than an interpretive rule, or a rule violation of which the Commission has provided is not an unfair or deceptive act or practice in violation of section 5(a)), then the Commission may commence a civil action against such person, partnership, or corporation for relief under subsection (b) in a United States district court or in any court of competent jurisdiction of a State.
 - (2) If any person, partnership, or corporation engages in any unfair or deceptive act or practice (within the meaning of section 5(a)(1)) with respect to which the Commission has issued a final cease and desist order which is applicable to such person, partnership, or corporation, then the Commission may commence a civil action against such person, partnership, or corporation in a United States district court or in any court of competent jurisdiction of a State. If the Commission satisfies the court that the act or practice to which the cease and desist order relates is one which a reasonable man would have known under the circumstances was dishonest or fraudulent, the court may grant relief under subsection (b).
- (b) Nature of relief available.

The court in an action under subsection (a) shall have jurisdiction to grant such relief as the court finds necessary to redress injury to consumers or other persons, partnership, and corporations resulting from the rule violation or the unfair or deceptive act or practice, as the case may be. Such relief may include, but shall not be limited to, rescission or reformation of contracts, the refund of money or return of property, theyment of damages, and public notification respecting the rule violation or the unfair or deceptive act or practice, as the case may be; except that nothing in this subsection is intended to authorize the imposition of any exemplary or

Case: 09-15684 12/09/2009 Page: 79 of 97 ID: 7158242 DktEntry: 23

punitive damages.

- (c) [omitted]
- (d) [omitted]
- (e) Availability of additional Federal or State remedies; other authority of Commission unaffected.

Remedies provided in this section are in additio, and not in lieu of, any other remedy or right of action provided by State or Federal law. Nothing in this section shall be construed to affect any authority of the Commission under any other provision of law.

PART 436—DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS AND PROHIBITIONS CONCERNING FRANCHISING AND BUSINESS OPPORTUNITY VENTURES

§ 436.1 16 CFR Ch. I (1–1–05 Edition)

Sec.

436.1 The Rule.

436.2 Definitions.

436.3 Severability.

AUTHORITY: 38 Stat. 717, as amended, 15 U.S.C. 41–58.

SOURCE: 43 FR 59614, Dec. 21, 1978, unless otherwise noted.

§ 436.1 The Rule.

In connection with the advertising, offine, licensing, contracting, sale, or other promotion in or affecting commerce, as "commerce" is defined in the Federal Trade Commission Act, of any franchise, or any relationship which is represented either orally or in writing to be a franchise, it is an unfair or detixepact or practice within the meaning of section 5 of that Act for any franchisor or franchise broker:

- (a) To fail to furnish any prospective franchisee with the following information accurately, clearly, and concisely stated, in a legible, written document at the earlier of the "time for making of disclosures" or the first "personal meeting":
- (1)(i) The official name and address and principal place of business of the franchisor, and of the parent firm or holding company of the franchisor, if any;

(a)(1)(iii) of this section; and (iv) has offered for sale or sold franchises in other lines of

(v)

Case: 09-15684 12/09/2009 Page: 82 of 97 ID: 7158242 DktEntry: 23

disclosed.

(8) A statement describing any recurring funds required to be paid, in connection with carrying on the franchise business, by the franchisee to the franchisor or to a person affiliated with the franchisor, or which the franchisor or such affiliated person imposes or collects in whole or in part on behalf of a third party, include, but not limited to, royalty, lease, advertising, training, and sign rental fees, and equipment or inventory purchases.

- (9) A statement setting forth the name of each person (including the franchisor) the franchisee is directly or indirectly required or advised to do business with by the franchisor, where such persons are affiliated with the franchisor.
- (10) A statement describing any real estate, services, supplies, products, inventories, signs, fixtures, or equipment relating to the establishment or the operation of the franchise business which the franchisee is directly or indirectly required by the franchisor to purchase, lease or rent; and if such purchases, leases or rentals must be made from specific persons (including the franchisor), a list of the names and addresses of each such person. Such list may be made in a separate document delivered to the prospective franchisee with the prospectus if the existence of such separate document is disclosed in the prospectus.
- (11) A description of the basis for calculating, and, if such information is readily available, the actual amount of, any revenue or other consideration to be received by the franchisor or persons affiliated with the franchisor from suppliers to the prospective franchisee in consideration for goods or services which the franchisor requires or advises the franchisee to obtain from such suppliers.
- (12)(i) A statement of all the material terms and conditions of any financing arrangement offered directly or indirectly by the franchisor, or any person affiliated with the franchisor, to the prospective franchisee; and
- (ii) A description of the terms by which any payment is to be received by the franchisor from (A) any person offering financing to a prospective franchisee; and (B) any person arranging for financing for a prospective franchisee.
- (13) A statement describing the material facts of whether, by the terms of the franchise agreement or other device or practice, the franchisee is:
 - (i) Limited in the goods or services he or she may offer for sale:
 - (ii) Limited in the customers to whom he or she may sell such goods or services;
- (iii) Limited in the geographic area in which he or she may offer for sale or sell goods or services; or
- (iv) Granted territorial protection by the franchisor, by which, with respect to a territory or area, (A) the franchisor will not establish another, or more than any fixed number of, franchises or company-owned outlets, eitherativeg under, or selling, offering, or distributing goods, commodities or services, identified by any mark set forth under paragraph (a)(1)(iii) of this section; or (B) the franchisor or its parent will not establish other franchises or company-owned outlets selling or leasing the same or similar products or services under a different trade name, trademark, service mark, advertising or other commercial symbol.
- (14) A statement of the extent to which the franchisor requires the franchisee (or, if the franchisee is a corporation, any person affiliated with the franchisee) to participate personally in the direct operation of the franchise.
 - (15) A statement disclosing, with respect to the franchise agreement and any related

Case: 09-15684 12/09/2009 Page: 83 of 97 ID: 7158242 DktEntry: 23

agreements:

(i) The term (i.e., duration of arrangement), if any, of such agreement, and whether such term is or may be affected by any agreement (including leases or subleases) other than the one from which such term arises;

- (ii) The conditions under which the franchisee may renew or extend;
- (iii) The conditions under which the franchisor may refuse to renew or extend;
- (iv) The conditions under which the franchisee may terminate;
- (v) The conditions under which the franchisor may terminate;
- (vi) The obligations (including lease or sublease obligations) of the franchisee after termination of the franchise by the franchisor, and the obligations of the franchisee (including lease or sublease obligations) after termination of the franchise and after the expiration of the franchise;
- (vii) The franchisee's interest upon termination of the franchise, or upon refusal to renew or extend the franchise, whether by the franchisor or by the franchisee;
- (viii) The conditions under which the franchisor may repurchase, whether by right of first refusal or at the option of the franchisor (and if the franchisor has the option to repurchase the franchise, whether there will be an independent appraisal of the franchise, whether the repurchase price will be determined by a predetermined formula and whether there will be a recognition of goodwill or other intangibles associated therewith in the repurchase price to be given the franchisee);
- (ix) The conditions under which the franchisee may sell or assign all or any interest in the ownership of the franchise, or of the assets of the franchise business;
- (x) The conditions under which the franchisor may sell or assign, in whole or in part, its interest under such agreements;
 - (xi) The conditions under which the franchisee may modify;
 - (xii) The conditions under which the franchisor may modify;
- (xiii) The rights of the franchisee's heirs or personal representative upon the death or incapacity of the franchisee; and
 - (xiv) The provisions of any covenant not to compete.
- (16) A statement disclosing, with respect to the franchisor and as to the particular named business being offered:
 - (i) The total number of franchises operating at the end of the preceding fiscal year;
- (ii) The total number of company owned outlets operating at the end of the preceding fiscal year;
- (iii) The names, addresses, and telephone numbers of (A) The 10 franchised outlets of the named franchise business nearest the prospective franchisee's intended location; or (B) all franchisees of the franchisor, or (C) all franchises of the franchisor in the State in which the prospective franchisee lives or where the proposed franchise is to be located, however, That there are more than 10 such franchisees. If the number of franchisees to be disclosed pursuant to paragraph (a)(16)(iii) (B) or (C) of this section exceeds 50, such listing may be made in a separate document delivered to the prospective franchisee with the prospectus if the existence of such separate document is disclosed in the prospectus;
- (iv) The number of franchises voluntarily terminated or not renewed by franchisees within, or at the conclusion of, the term of the franchise agreement, during the preceding fiscal

year;

- (v) The number of franchises reacquired by purchase by the franchisor during the term of the franchise agreement, and upon the conclusion of the term of the franchise agreement, during the preceding fiscal year;
- (vi) The number of franchises otherwise reacquired by the franchisor during the term of the franchise agreement, and upon the conclusion of the term of the franchise agreement, during the preceding fiscal year;
- (vii) The number of franchises for which the franchisor refused renewal of the franchise agreement or other agreements relating to the franchise during the preceding fiscal year; and
- (viii) The number of franchises that were canceled or terminated by the franchisor during the term of the franchise agreement, and uponlusion of the term of the franchise agreement, during the preceding fiscal year.

With respect to the disclosures required by paragraphs (a)(16) (v), (vi), (vii), and (viii) of this section, the disclosure statement shall also include a general categorization of the reasons for such reacquisitions, refusals to renew or terminations, and the number falling within each such category, including but not limited to the following: failure to comply with quality control standards, failure to make sufficient sales, and other breaches of contract.

(17)(i) If site selection or approval thereof by the franchisor is involved in the franchise

Case: 09-15684 12/09/2009 Page: 85 of 97 ID: 7158242 DktEntry: 23

recent fiscal year, and an income statement (statement of results of operations) and statement of changes in financial position for the franchisor for the most recent 3 fiscal years. Such statements are required to have been examined in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards by an independent certified or licensed public accountant.

Provided, however, hat where a franchisor is a subsidiary of another corporation which is permitted under generally accepted accounting principles to prepare financial statements on a consolidated or combined statement basis, the above information may be submitted for the parent if (A) the corresponding unaudited financial statements of the franchisor are also provided, and (B) the parent absolutely and irrevocably has agreed to guarantee all obligations of the subsidiary;

- (ii) Unaudited statements shall be used only to the extent that audited statements have not been made, and provided that such statements are accompanied by a clear and conspicuous disclosure that they are unaudited. Statements shall be prepared on an audited basis as soon as practicable, but, at a minimum, financial statetsefor the first full fiscal year following the date on which the franchisor must first comply with this part shall contain a balance sheet opinion prepared by an independent certified censed public accountant, and financial statements for the following fiscal year shall be fully audited.
- (21) All of the foregoing information in paragraphs (a) (1) through (20) of this section shall be contained in a single disclosure statement or prospectus, which shall not contain any materials or information other than that requibey this part or by State law not preempted by this part. This does not preclude franchisorframchise brokers from giving other nondeceptive information orally, visually, or in separate literature so long as such information is not contradictory to the information in the disclosure statement required by paragraph (a) of this section. This disclosure statement shall carry a cover sheet distinctively and conspicuously showing the name of the franchisor, the datissulance of the disclosure statement, and the following notice imprinted thereon in upper and lower case bold-face type of not less than 12 point size:

Information for Prospective Franchisees Required by Federal Trade Commission

* * * * *

To protect you, we've required your franchisor to give you this informat/lænhaven't checked it, and don't know if it's correct should help you make up your mind. Study it carefully. While it includes some information about your contract, don't rely on it alone to understand your contract. Read all of your contract carefully. Buying a franchise is a complicated investment. Take your time to decide. If possible, show your contract and this information to an advisor, like a lawyer or an accountant. If you find anything you think may be wrong or anything important that's been left, you should let us know about it. It may be against the law.

There may also be laws on franchising in your state. Ask your state agencies about them.

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION, Washington, D.C.

Case: 09-15684 12/09/2009 Page: 86 of 97 ID: 7158242 DktEntry: 23

State law not preempted by this part. Each prospective franchisee to whom the representation is made shall be furnished with such document no later than the "time for making of disclosures"; Provided, however, hat if the representation is made at or prior to a "personal meeting" and such meeting occurs before the "time for making of disclosures", the document shall be furnished to the prospective franchisee to whom the representation is made at that "personal meeting";

(4) The following statement is clearly and conspicuously disclosed in the document described by paragraph (b)(3) of this section in immediate conjunction with such representation and in not less than twelve point upper and lowercase boldface type:

CAUTION

These figures are only estimates of what we think you may earn. There is no assurance you'll do as well. If you rely upon our figures, you must accept the risk of not doing as well.

- (5) The following information is clearly and conspicuously disclosed in the document described by paragraph (b)(3) of this section in immediate conjunction with such representation:
- (i) The number and percentage of outlets of the named franchise business which are located in the geographic markets that form the basis for any such representation and which are known to the franchisor or franchise broker to have earned or made at least the same sales, income, or profits during a period of corresponding length in the immediate past as those potential sales, income, or profits represented; and
- (ii) The beginning and ending dates for the corresponding time period referred to by paragraph (b)(5)(i) of this section frovided, however, that any franchisor without prior franchising experience as to the named franchise business so indicate such lack of experience in the document described in paragraph (b)(3) of this section.
- Except, That representations of the sales, income or profits of existing franchise outlets need not comply with paragraph (b) of this section.
- (c) To make any oral, written or visual representation to a prospective franchisee which states a specific level of sales, income, grossebprofits of existing outlets (whether franchised or company-owned) of the named franchise business, or which states other facts which suggest such a specific level, unless:
- (1) At the time such representation is made, such representation is relevant to the geographic market in which the franchise is to be located;
- (2) At the time such representation is made, a reasonable basis exists for such representation and the franchisor has in its possession material which constitutes a reasonable basis for such representation, and such material is made available to any prospective franchisee and to the Commission or its staff upon reasonable der randigled, however, that in immediate conjunction with such representation, the franchisor discloses in a clear and conspicuous manner that such material is available to the prospective franchise exided, further, That no provision within paragraph (c) of this section shall be construed as requiring the

Case: 09-15684 12/09/2009 Page: 88 of 97 ID: 7158242 DktEntry: 23

existing outlets (whether franchised or company-owned) of the named franchise business may be made later than the "time for making of disclosures";

- (3) Such representation is set forth in detail along with the material bases and assumptions therefor in a single legible written document which accurately, clearly and concisely discloses such information, and none other than that provided for by this part or by State law not preempted by this part. Each prospective franchisee to whom the representation is made shall be furnished with such document no later than the "time for making of disclosures", Provided, however, hat if the representation is made at or prior to a "personal meeting" and such meeting occurs before the "time for making of disclosures," the document shall be furnished to the prospective franchisee to whom the representation is made at that "personal meeting";
- (4) The underlying data on which the representation is based have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
- (5) The following statement is clearly and conspicuously disclosed in the document described by paragraph (c)(3) of this section in immediate conjunction with such representation, and in not less than twelve point upper and lower case boldface type:

CAUTION

Some outlets have [sold] [earned] this amount. There is no assurance you'll do as well. If you rely upon our figures, you must accept the risk of not doing as well.

- (6) The following information is clearly and conspicuously disclosed in the document described by paragraph (c)(3) of this section in immediate conjunction with such representation:
- (i) The number and percentage of outlets of the named franchise business which are located in the geographic markets that form the basis for any such representation and which are known to the franchisor or franchise broker to have earned or made at least the same sales, income, or profits during a period of corresponding length in the immediate past as those sales, income, or profits represented; and
- (ii) The beginning and ending dates for the corresponding time period referred to by paragraph (c)(6)(i) of this section frovided, however, that any franchisor without prior franchising experience as to the named franchise business so indicate such lack of experience in the document described in paragraph (c)(3) of this section.
- (d) To fail to provide the following information within the document(s) required by paragraphs (b)(3) and (c)(3) of this section whenever any representation is made to a prospective franchisee regarding its potential sales, income, or profits, or the sales, income, gross or net profits of existing outlets (whether franchiseedcompany-owned) of the named franchise business:
- (1) A cover sheet distinctively and conspicuously showing the name of the franchisor, the date of issuance of the document and the following notice imprinted thereon in upper and lower case boldface type of not less than twelve point size:

Information for Prospective Franchisees About Franchise [Sales] [Income] [Profit] Required by the Federal Trade Commission.

To protect you, we've required the franchisor to give you this informative haven't checked it and don't know if it's correct tudy these facts and figures carefully. If possible, show them to someone who can advise you, like a lawyer or an accountant. Then take your time and think it over.

If you find anything you think may be wrong amything important that's been left out, let us know about it. It may be against the law.

There may also be laws on franchising in y6tate. Ask your State agencies about them.

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION, Washington, D.C.

(2) A table of contents.

disclosures," each prospective franchisee shall be given a single, legible written document which accurately, clearly and concisely sets forth the following information and materials (and none other than that provided for by this party):

- (i) The representation, set forth in detail along with the material bases and assumptions therefor:
- (ii) The number and percentage of outlets of the named franchise business which the franchisor or the franchise broker knows to have earned or made at least the same sales, income or profits during a period of corresponding length in the immediate past as those sales, income, or profits represented, and the beginning and ending dates for said time period;
- (iii) With respect to each such represervotator sales, income, or profits of existing outlets, the following statement shall be clearly and conspicuously disclosed in immediate

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSSION, Washington, D.C.

- (viii) A table of contents;
- (6) Each prospective franchisee shall be **iest**ifat the "time for making of disclosures" of any material changes that have occurred in the information contained in this document.
- (f) To make any claim or representation which is contradictory to the information required to be disclosed by this part.
- (g) To fail to furnish the prospective franchisee with a copy of the franchisor's franchise agreement and related agreements with the document, and a copy of the completed franchise and related agreements intended to be executed by the parties at least 5 business days prior to the date the agreements are to be executed.

Provided, however, hat the obligations defined in paragraphs (b) through (g) of this section shall be deemed to have been met for both the franchisor and the franchise broker if either such person furnishes the prospective franchisee with the written disclosures required thereby.

(h) To fail to return any funds or deposits in accordance with any conditions disclosed pursuant to paragraph (a)(7) of this section.

§ 436.2 Definitions.

As used in this part, the following definitions shall apply:

(a) The termfranchisemeans any continuing commercial relationship created by any arrangement or arrangements whereby:

Case: 09-15684 12/09/2009 Page: 92 of 97 ID: 7158242 DktEntry: 23

part.

- (b) The termpersonmeans any individual, group, association, limited or general partnership, corporation, or any other business entity.
- (c) The termfranchisormeans any person who participates in a franchise relationship as a franchisor, as denoted in paragraph (a) of this section.
- (d) The termfranchiseemeans any person (1) who participates in a franchise relationship as a franchisee, as denoted in paragraph (a) of this section, or (2) to whom an interest in a franchise is sold.
- (e) The termprospective franchise cludes any person, including any representative, agent, or employee of that person, who approaches or is approached by a franchisor or franchise broker, or any representative, agent, or employee thereof, for the purpose of discussing the establishment, or possible establishment, of a franchise relationship involving such a person.
- (f) The termbusiness dameans any day other than Saturday, Sunday, or the following national holidays: New Year's Day, Washing's Birthday, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Columbus Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving, and Christmas.
- (g) The termtime for making of disclosureseans ten (10) business days prior to the earlier of (1) the execution by a prospective franchisee of any franchise agreement or any other agreement imposing a binding legal obligation on such prospective franchisee, about which the franchisor, franchise broker, or any agent, representative, or employee thereof, knows or should know, in connection with the sale or proposed sale of a franchise, or (2) the payment by a prospective franchisee, about which the franchisor, franchise broker, or any agent, representative, or employee thereof, knows or should know, of any consideration in connection with the sale or proposed sale of a franchise.
- (h) The termfractional franchisemeans any relationship, as denoted by paragraph (a) of this section, in which the person described therein as a franchisee, or any of the current directors or executive officers thereof, has been in the type of business represented by the franchise relationship for more than 2 years and the parties anticipated, or should have anticipated, at the time the agreement establishing the franchise relationship was reached, that the sales arising from the relationship would represent no more than 20 percent of the sales in dollar volume of the franchisee.
 - (i) The termaffiliated personneans a person (as defined in paragraph (b) of this section):
- (1) Which directly or indirectly controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, a franchisor; or
- (2) Which directly or indirectly owns, controls, or holds with power to vote, 10 percent or more of the outstanding voting securities of a franchisor; or
- (3) Which has, in common with a franchisor, one or more partners, officers, directors, trustees, branch managers, or other persons occupying similar status or performing similar functions.
- (j) The termfranchise brokemeans any person other than a franchisor or a franchisee who sells, offers for sale, or arranges for the sale of a franchise.
- (k) The termsale of a franchisencludes a contract or agreement whereby a person obtains a franchise or interest in a franchise for value by purchase, license, or otherwise. This term shall not be deemed to include the renewal or extension of an existing franchise where there is no interruption in the operation of the franchised business by the franchisee, unless the new

Case: 09-15684 12/09/2009 Page: 94 of 97 ID: 7158242 DktEntry: 23

contracts or agreements contain material chaftges those in effect between the franchisor and franchisee prior thereto.

- (I) A cooperative associations either (1) an association of producers of agricultural products authorized by section 1 of the Capper-Volstead Act, 7 U.S.C. 291; or (2) an organization operated on a cooperative basis by and for independent retailers which wholesales goods or furnishes services primarily to its member-retailers.
 - (m) The termfiscal yearmeans the franchisor's fiscal year.
- (n) The termsnaterial, material factandmaterial changeshall include any fact, circumstance, or set of conditions which has a substantial likelihood of influencing a reasonable franchisee or a reasonable prospective franchisee in the making of a significant decision relating to a named franchise business or which has any significant financial impact on a franchisee or prospective franchisee.
- (o) The termpersonal meetingneans a face-to-face meeting between a franchisor or franchise broker (or any agent, representative, or employee thereof) and a prospective franchisee which is held for the purpose of discussing the sale or possible sale of a franchise.

§ 436.3 Severability.

If any provision of this part or its application to any person, act, or practice is held invalid, the remainder of the part or the application of its provisions to any person, act, or practice shall not be affected thereby.

NOTE 1: The Commission expresses no opinion as to the legality of any practice mentioned in this part. A provision for disslore should not be construed as condonation or approval with respect to the matter required to be disclosed, nor as an indication of the Commission's intention not to enforce any applicable statute.

NOTE 2: By taking action in this area, the Federal Trade Commission does not intend to annul, alter, or affect, or exempt any person subjettle provisions of this part from complying with the laws or regulations of any State, notipitality, or other local government with respect to franchising practices, except to the extent that those laws or regulations are inconsistent with any provision of this part, and then only to the extent of the inconsistency. For the purposes of this part, a law or regulation of any Stateunicipality, or other local government is not inconsistent with this part if the protection such law or regulation affords any prospective franchisee is equal to or greater than the vipted by this part. Examples of provisions which provide protection equal to or greater than the vipted by this part include laws or regulations which require more complete record keeping by the franchisor or the disclosure of more complete information to the franchisee.

NOTE 3: [As per § 436.1(a)(24) of this part]:

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

Case: 09-15684 12/09/2009 Page: 95 of 97 ID: 7158242 DktEntry: 23

Pursuant to 16 CFR 436.1 et seq., a Trade Regulation Rule of the Federal Trade Commission regarding Disclosure Requirememts Prohibitions Concerning Franchising and Business Opportunity Ventures, the following information is set forth on [name of franchisor] for your examination:

- 1. Identifying information as to franchisor.
- 2. Business experience of franchisor's directors and executive officers.
- 3. Business experience of the franchisor.
- 4. Litigation history.
- 5. Bankruptcy history.
- 6. Description of franchise.
- 7. Initial funds required to be paid by a franchisee.
- 8. Recurring funds required to be paid by a franchisee.
- 9. Affiliated persons the franchisee is required or advised to do business with by the franchisor.
 - 10. Obligations to purchase.
 - 11. Revenues received by the franchisor in consideration of purchases by a franchisee.
 - 12. Financing arrangements.
 - 13. Restriction of sales.
 - 14. Personal participation required of the franchisee in the operation of the franchise.
 - 15. Termination, cancellation, and renewal of the franchise.
- 16. Statistical information concerning the number of franchises (and company-owned outlets).
 - 17. Site selection.
 - 18. Training programs.
 - 19. Public figure involvement in the franchise.
 - 20. Financial information concerning the franchisor.

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE

Case: 09-15684 12/09/2009 Page: 97 of 97 ID: 7158242 DktEntry: 23

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE When NotAll Case Participants are Registered for the Appellant CM/ECF System

U. S. Court of Appeals Docket Number(s	s): 09-15684
--	--------------

I hereby certify that I electronically fidethe Brief for Plaintiff-Appellee Federal Trade Commission with the Clerk of the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit by using the appellate CM/ECF system on December 9, 2009.

Participants in the case who are regizateCM/ECF users will be served by the appellate CM/ECF system.

I further certify that some of the participets in the case are not registered CM/ECF users. I have mailed the foregoing documby First-Class Mail, postage prepaid, or have dispatched it to a third party commercial carrier for delivery within 3 calendar days, to the following non-CM/ECF participants:

Matthew L. Johnson Matthew L. Johnson & Associates PC Lakes Business Park 8831 W. Sahara Ave. Las Vegas, NV 89117

Signature	/Mark S. Hegedus	
	Mark S. Hegedus	